RECEIVED, 4/12/2013 17:28:33, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-629

LOWER COURT CASE NO. 96-CF-735 B

LAMAR Z. BROOKS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857 McClain & McDermott, P.A. 20301 Grande Oak Blvd Suite 118-61 Estero, FL 33928 (850) 322-2172

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

#### INTRODUCTION

From the outset, Mr. Brooks' case was one based entirely on circumstantial evidence. There were no eyewitnesses to the murders nor was there any physical evidence tying Mr. Brooks to the crime scene. The main witness against Mr. Brooks, Mark Gilliam, admittedly lied to police investigating the murders, lied during his first trial against Mr. Brooks regarding the extent of his involvement in the crimes, recanted his testimony to the effect that Mr. Brooks and his co-defendant, Walker Davis, did not plan or attempt to carry out the murders, and finally, after being arrested by the State for perjury, Gilliam recanted his recantation at Mr. Brooks' second trial.

Additionally, during Mr. Brooks' first trial, another key witness was a jailhouse snitch, Terrance Goodman, who was a cellmate of Mr. Brooks at the Okaloosa County Jail. Goodman testified that Mr. Brooks talked some about his case and stated that he, Davis and Gilliam discussed various ways to kill the victims (T. 2095). Mr. Brooks admitted his involvement in the murders several times (T. 2103). Mr. Brooks stated that you can feel everything when you stab someone, bones and tissue (T. 2102). Mr. Brooks told Goodman that "his case was the perfect murder, no physical evidence, no eyewitnesses, no DNA, no nothing. That's what I call the perfect murder." (T. 2103). Further, according to Goodman, Mr. Brooks said that it took heart to stab someone (T. 2102), that he "offed the broad" and "copped" the bodies (T. 2099), and that he rode in the backseat of the victim's car to Crestview (T. 2100).

In addition to Gilliam and Goodman, the State was able to obtain a conviction in Mr. Brooks' first trial by introducing numerous hearsay statements made by Davis that were used against Mr. Brooks. As was noted by this Court on direct appeal, "Most of the statements complained of were focused solely on Davis and his motives and plans to kill the victims. Indeed, Brooks claims that his trial was really a retrial of Davis, rather than a trial limited to evidence about Brooks." <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 787 So. 2d 765, 770 (Fla. 2001).

This Court subsequently reversed Mr. Brooks' convictions and remanded for a new trial:

Our review of the record in light of the State's theory at trial as well as the circumstantial nature of the evidence against Brooks establishes that the cumulative effect of the numerous errors discussed above in the admission of improper hearsay unfairly prejudiced Brooks. In the instant case, the State's admitted theory at trial was to show that Davis and Brooks were inseparable in the days leading up to the murders. In fact, in its opening argument, the State referred to them as "siamese twins." Thereafter, through the admission of numerous hearsay statements, the State sought to impute Davis's actions, statements, motive and intent to Brooks. This is particularly troublesome in this case where the trial court itself struggled with the admissibility of this evidence and concluded that this case was being tried on the basis of numerous hearsay exceptions. As such, the admission of this evidence constituted reversible error. See, e.g., Selver v. State, 568 So. 2d 1331 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); Bailey v. State, 419 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

Brooks, 787 So. 2d at 779.

As a result of this Court's opinion, there existed even less of a case against Mr. Brooks. In addition to the evidence that this Court ruled inadmissible, Terrance Goodman was not called as a witness by the State during the guilt phase of Mr.

Brooks' second trial.<sup>1</sup> Thus, there was no "confession" introduced by the State against Mr. Brooks.

Despite this, however, Mr. Brooks was again convicted and sentenced to death. But once again, on direct appeal, even more evidence was ruled inadmissible by this Court. It was determined that the trial court erred in allowing a worker with the child support division of the Department of Revenue to testify that she had received a telephone call from a person who called herself Rachel Carlson and who wanted child support from Walker Davis, which testimony had no relevance and was admitted in violation of Mr. Brooks' Sixth Amendment right to confrontation. Brooks v. State, 918 So. 2d 181, 188 (Fla. 2005). It was determined that the trial court erred in admitting notes that the police seized from Davis, after they were found when his leg cast was removed, a violation of Mr. Brooks' Sixth Amendment right to confrontation and Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial. Brooks, 918 So. 2d at 199-201. And it was determined that the trial court erred in allowing the State to impeach the testimony of Melissa Thomas by allowing a police officer to testify that she told him that on the night of the murders, Brooks came to her house wearing black

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Following the conclusion of Mr. Brooks' first trial, Goodman recanted his testimony, stating that Mr. Brooks never admitted in any way to participating in the murders for which he was convicted (R. 1242-44). Rather, Goodman stated that he received this information from law enforcement (R. 1242-44). Goodman admitted that he lied at Mr. Brooks' deposition and trial (R. 1242-44). Goodman subsequently recanted his recantation (R. 1255).

pants but left wearing shorts, a violation of the Florida Statutes and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Id. at 2001-01. However, the majority of the Court determined that these errors were harmless individually and cumulatively. Id. at  $202.^2$ 

Mr. Brooks submits that, with the addition of the following evidence which the jury did not hear, the errors in this case can no longer be rendered harmless. Rather, confidence is undermined in the outcome.

 $^{2}\mathrm{Two}$  of the justices voted to reverse Mr. Brooks' conviction:

I would reverse the convictions based on the erroneous admission of evidence identifying Walker Davis as the primary beneficiary of a life insurance policy on Alexis Stuart, the infant child of Davis's paramour, Rachel Carlson. Because the State did not lay a proper foundation in the form of knowledge of the policy by Brooks, Davis's alleged codefendant, the policy was inadmissible against Brooks either to establish the source of payment for the murders of Stuart and Carlson or to show Brooks' motive or intent. The error in admitting the life insurance policy was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the absence of direct evidence of Brooks' culpability and the dubious credibility of the State's key witness.

<u>Id</u>. at 211 (Pariente, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part with an opinion, in which Anstead, J., concurs) (emphasis added). And, following Mr. Brooks' motion for rehearing subsequent to this Court's affirmance, a third justice voted for reversal ("[T]he majority's conclusion that a single stabbing blow cannot constitutionally, as a matter of law, constitute an underlying felony for the purpose of application of the felony murder doctrine requires this Court to reverse Brooks's convictions"). <u>Id</u>. at 221 (Lewis, J., dissenting from denial of rehearing).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>3</sup>

On May 23, 1996, Mr. Brooks was charged with two counts of first-degree murder (R. 1-2). Mr. Brooks was tried, found guilty and sentenced to death. However, on direct appeal, this Court reversed the convictions and remanded for a new trial. <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 787 So. 2d 765 (Fla. 2001).

At the conclusion of Mr. Brooks' second trial, the jury again found him guilty of both counts of first-degree murder (R. 5129). Subsequent to the guilt phase, Mr. Brooks refused to put forth any mitigation evidence (T. 2613). Thereafter, the jury returned two death recommendations by a vote of 9-3 and 11-1 (R. 5152). The trial court then sentenced Mr. Brooks to death (R. 5250-55). On appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Brooks' convictions and sentences. <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 918 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 2005), rehearing denied December 22, 2005. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on May 22, 2006. <u>Brooks v.</u> Florida, 126 S.Ct. 2294 (2006).

Mr. Brooks' initial Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 motion was filed on May 18, 2007 (PC-R. 171-267). It was thereafter amended on October 9, 2007 (PC-R. 336-410), and supplemented on December 18, 2007 (PC-R. 480-82). A case management conference was conducted on December 7, 2007, after which the circuit court issued an order granted an evidentiary hearing on a number of Mr. Brooks'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Citations in this brief are as follows: References to the direct appeal record of Mr. Brooks' trial are designated as "R.\_\_\_\_". References to the trial transcript of Mr. Brooks' trial are designated as "T.\_\_\_\_". All other references are self-explanatory or otherwise explained herewith.

claims (PC-R. 485-86).

The evidentiary hearing was held on January 14-15, 2008 and May 14, 2008. However, in January, 2009, prior to a final order being issued, the presiding circuit court judge, the Honorable Jere Tolton, died unexpectedly. After the case was reassigned, Mr. Brooks filed a motion for new evidentiary hearing on April 17, 2009 (PC-R. 734-36). The motion was granted (PC-R. 744-45), and an evidentiary hearing was held on May 10-12, 2010.

On March 11, 2011, Mr. Brooks filed a successive rule 3.851 motion, raising a claim of newly discovered evidence (PC-R. 1155-76).<sup>4</sup> An evidentiary hearing was held on March 1, 2012. Thereafter, on March 12, 2012, the circuit court issued its final order denying relief (PC-R. 1247-1535). This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## TRIAL PROCEEDINGS

Responding to a 911 call about 10:30 or 11:00 p.m. on Wednesday April 24, 1996, officers with the Crestview Police Department approached a parked car that had its engine running and lights on (T. 1387, 1395). The vehicle was at the end of a dead end street in a ghetto area of Crestview, which had some night clubs and homes nearby, and was about two blocks from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Mr. Brooks had originally filed the successive motion as a supplement to his Rule 3.851 motion (PC-R. 1096-1127). However, the State moved to strike the supplement (PC-R. 1132-37), which the court granted, without prejudice to Mr. Brooks to file a successive Rule 3.851 motion (PC-R. 1147-50). In its final order denying relief, however, the circuit court determined that Mr. Brooks' successive motion should in fact be treated as an appropriate amendment to his postconviction motion (PC-R. 1253).

the police station (T. 1135, 1258).

When the police officers looked inside the car they saw the woman driver slumped over onto the passenger side. They also saw an infant in the rear passenger side of the car in a child's seat (T. 1263-64). The driver, 23-year-old Rachel Carlson, was dead, as was Alexis Stuart, her three-month-old daughter (T. 1426). Carlson had been strangled and stabbed 66-70 times, the fatal wounds being to her neck (T. 1193-94, 1202, 1205). Alexis also had several stab wounds, and died from a single stab wound to her heart (T. 1212-14).

The car had been parked for about two hours. About 10 p.m., Walker Davis, who was limping because he had a cast on his foot (T. 1436), and another man were seen walking quickly along the street the car was parked on (T. 1143-44, 1149, 1153, 1512, 1513). Other than that lead, the police initially had little to go on, but within a day they began questioning Davis about what he knew regarding Carlson (T. 1279-80).<sup>5</sup>

Davis, who was married and had two children at the time, never mentioned that he knew Carlson (T. 1292, 1357). Carlson, on the other hand, not only knew Davis, but had claimed that Alexis was his child (T. 1410), which was untrue (T. 2049). Davis also denied the infant was his (T. 1458). Nevertheless, as early as December 1995, he had inquired about buying an insurance policy for Alexis, and in February 1996, he purchased one worth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Davis and Carlson were both in the Air Force and worked at the hospital on Eglin Air Force Base (T. 1281).

\$100,000 with him as the primary beneficiary and Carlson as the contingent beneficiary (T. 1500-01).

The police also questioned Mr. Brooks, Davis' cousin, who had come to visit him and had been there since the Sunday before the murders (T. 1288, 1293). When asked what he had been doing for the past several days, he told the police that he had gone to town twice, once looking for marijuana (T. 1290). About 7 p.m. on the night of the murders, he had helped his cousin put together a water bed, walked Davis' dog, watched a movie, and then gone to bed (T. 1290, 1366).<sup>6</sup> Mr. Brooks denied being in Crestview the night of the murders (T. 1290).

Contrary to Mr. Brooks' statement, an individual named Melissa Thomas said that Davis and Mr. Brooks were at her house in Crestview near the crime scene about 9 p.m. on the night of the murders and had stayed there for 20 minutes (T. 1525, 1531). The two men left and apparently went to a nearby credit union<sup>7</sup> where a work acquaintance of Davis', Rochelle Jones, picked them up and drove them back to Davis' house (T. 1567-73).<sup>8</sup>

On the way back, Jones was stopped for speeding (T. 1572).

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 6}{\rm It}$  took about two hours to set up the waterbed and fill it with water (T. 1367).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Glenese Rushing went to the Eglin Federal Credit Union on the night of the murders to withdraw some money from the ATM machine (T. 1471-72). She saw two men across the street get in a car (T. 1476). Bank records established that the withdrawal occurred at 9:53 p.m. (T. 1483).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Davis had also used the telephone while at Thomas' home (T. 1527). According to telephone company records, Davis apparently called Jones at 9:22 p.m.(T. 1565).

A police officer testified that he issued a ticket to Jones for driving with a suspended license (T. 1583, 1585).<sup>9</sup> The officer testified that there were two males in the front seat and children in the back (T. 1584). Because her license was suspended, the officer allowed Davis to drive (T. 1585).

Mr. Brooks, when questioned, also told the police that an Army buddy, whom he identified only as Mark, had come with him and Davis from a weekend trip to Atlanta (T. 1455). The police eventually identified Mark as Mark Gilliam, a soldier stationed at Ft. Benning, Georgia (T. 1698). At the retrial, Gilliam testified that he had met up with Mr. Brooks in Atlanta on the weekend of April 21-22, 1996 (T. 1618-20). After partying there, he, Mr. Brooks, Davis, and others came to Crestview on Sunday evening and stayed in Davis' apartment (T. 1621-22). Early the next morning a woman banged on Davis' door, and she was angry (T. 1625). Gilliam was too drunk to get up, but Davis later told him that "this girl kept pestering him about a stereo he owed money for," and that upset him (T. 1629). He said she should be choked, but Mr. Brooks said, "nah you should just shoot her," and Gilliam added "nah, shooting would be too messy. You should just stab her." (T. 1631). For Gilliam they were only joking, but later on Monday evening, Davis and Mr. Brooks approached him, and each offered him \$500 if he would drive a car so they could kill the girl (T. 1634-36). Davis told him that he would pay Mr. Brooks ten thousand dollars to kill her (T. 1634), would provide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The citation was issued at 10:20 p.m. (T. 1586).

the shotgun Mr. Brooks would use, and would also get some latex gloves so no fingerprints would be left (T. 1640-42). Davis promised Gilliam that he would provide falsified medical records to explain his absence from work (T. 1647).

Accordingly, Davis got Rachel Carlson to come to his house on Monday evening (T. 1651). He got in her car, and Gilliam and Mr. Brooks followed in the former's vehicle (T. 1656). Carlson was speeding, and soon a police car had pulled her over and given her a ticket (T. 1817-19). Gilliam drove past but circled back and stopped behind the two cars (T. 1657). Another police car pulled behind Gilliam. Mr. Brooks, according to Gilliam, said he was going to "have to shoot them," but Gilliam told Mr. Brooks to put the shotgun away (T. 1659). He did, and the officer asked why Gilliam had pulled behind Carlson and the other police car. Gilliam said that the light from his gear shifter had gone out (T. 1663). The officer gave him a warning ticket and let them go (T. 1665, 1831, 1844). Scared, Gilliam returned to Davis' apartment, and when Davis showed up Gilliam said he was leaving the next day (T. 1670). Instead, however, Gilliam went to bed, woke up the next afternoon, and just hung around (T. 1672). According to Gilliam, Davis had a dentist appointment in the morning, but when he returned, he and Brooks said they should "try it again." (T. 1673). Although he did not want to, Gilliam eventually gave in (T. 1675).

Yet, on the next attempt, Gilliam lost Carlson's car, and went to the place they had agreed they would commit the homicide and waited (T. 1679-80). Davis never showed up, and after a

while Mr. Brooks and Gilliam returned to Davis' house (T. 1681). When Davis came home some time later, Gilliam said "I'm out of here. I'm leaving tomorrow." (T. 1682). And he did, but not before getting the promised, falsified papers saying that he had been in an accident (T. 1684).<sup>10</sup>

## **POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS**<sup>11</sup>

During the postconviction evidentiary hearing, Mr. Brooks presented evidence regarding the ineffective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase.<sup>12</sup> Kepler Funk testified that he and Keith Szachacz, his law partner, were Mr. Brooks' trial attorneys at his retrial (PC-R. 6902). They also represented Mr. Brooks on appeal prior to the trial (PC-R. 6902).

Funk testified that generally he and Szachacz equally share in the duties, and they each review every document in discovery

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>When the police questioned him about the murders, Gilliam initially told them nothing until he was threatened with criminal charges (T. 1701). Then at the retrial, Gilliam admitted that he had "left out some parts" when he had testified at Mr. Brooks first trial (T. 1701, 1722). Specifically, he omitted that he had "helped attempt their murder two nights in a row," and said, instead that they had "just hung out." (T. 1701). As a result, the State charged him with four counts of perjury for the testimony he had given in 1997 and 1998 (T. 1722).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>During the postconviction evidentiary hearing, the State and the Defense stipulated to the introduction of the prior transcribed testimony of the trial attorneys as to their recollection of whether they recalled seeing previously admitted exhibits that had been entered into evidence (PC-R. 6898-6900). They also stipulated that the circuit court make a part of the record the transcript of Walker Davis' trial and of Mr. Brooks' initial jury trial (PC-R. 6901).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Mr. Brooks presented an alternative argument that the State failed to disclose material, exculpatory evidence.

and every witness (PC-R. 6903). While he had no independent memory, Funk had no doubt that he and Szachacz went over Szachacz's opening statement many times and made revisions (PC-R. 6904-05). They hoped at least the jury would hear the matters discussed in the opening during their cross-examination of the witnesses (PC-R. 6932).<sup>13</sup> However, because the prosecutor limited his questions on direct, they were prevented from getting everything they wanted in cross based on the prosecutor's objections that it was beyond the scope (PC-R. 6933).<sup>14</sup> This required the defense to make the decision of what was the benefit or detriment of putting on a case (PC-R. 6933).

Funk testified that the defense was ready to put on a case, but Funk didn't know whether they intended on doing it (PC-R. 6908).<sup>15</sup> That decision was made after the State rested (PC-R. 6908). So when Szachacz got up to deliver his opening statement, the intention was to win, not whether to put on a case (PC-R. 6909). The defense believed that in this case, the rebuttal

<sup>14</sup>Funk didn't think the defense was necessarily hurt by this (PC-R. 6969). They would have liked to get the information out, but he didn't think it was critical and crucial and so outweighed their ability to keep the sandwich (PC-R. 6969).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>In his postconviction motion, Mr. Brooks asserted that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance when he informed the jury during his opening statement that extensive evidence beneficial to Mr. Brooks' would be presented, yet the jury ultimately never heard this evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>When asked if he or Szachacz issued any subpoenas for witnesses prior to trial, Funk didn't recall doing that (PC-R. 6905). But he believed that if they wanted to call witnesses in their case in chief, it wouldn't have been a problem, because they could have called witnesses under prosecution subpoena (PC-R. 6905-06, 6950-51).

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