TGEGKXGF.'91: 14235''422: 55."Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

I n the Supreme Court of F Iorida

LAMAR Z. BROOKS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC12-629

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. /

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 primary email: capapp@myfloridalegal.com secondary email: charmaine.millsaps@myfloridalegal.com COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

The victim's hair

Brooks specifically asserts his counsel failed to present evidence that hair collected from the crime scene by FDLE did not match Brooks' hair. IB at 54. Post-conviction counsel also asserts that the jury did not hear that a Caucasian hair was found in the victim, Rachel Carlson's palm. Because the hair was described as Caucasian and Brooks is an African-American, it was presumably not Brooks' hair.

The trial court concluded that defense counsel in fact argued the lack of scientific evidence, such as DNA and blood, linking Brooks to the murders in closing. (PC Vol. 7 1258-1259). The trial court explained, rather than putting on witnesses and losing the sandwich, defense counsel argued the lack of blood and hair evidence was a reasonable tactic. (PC Vol. 7 1259). The trial court also found that counsel's performance was not deficient for not having the hair in the victim's hand tested because the hair

- 48 -

was obviously Caucasian, as was Rachael Carlson. (PC Vol. 7 1259). The trial court also noted that the defendant had present no evidence at the evidentiary hearing regarding the hair, such as DNA testing of the hair, and therefore, he did not meet his burden. (PC Vol. 7 1258-1260). The trial court observed that postconviction relief cannot be based on speculation. (PC Vol. 7 1260).

There was no deficient performance. Mr. Funk testified that the hair was similar in color and length to the victim's hair. Moreover, a hair analyst was called at the first trial and stated that the hair was similar in appearance to the adult victim's hair. (Evid H at 285). Both counsel were aware of this testimony because they wrote the appellate brief of the first trial. It is not deficient not to present evidence regarding a hair that is found in the victim's palm that you have reason to think is just the victim's own hair.

No prejudice was established at the evidentiary hearing either. Post-conviction counsel needed to call a hair expert to establish that the Caucasian hair was not that of the victim or her infant.¹¹

This seems to be a unfortunate new trend in capital litigation to be granted an evidentiary hearing on a claim and then not prove the underlying factual basis for the claim. Without any expert hair testimony regarding the hair found in Carlson's hand versus the victims' hair, no prejudice can possibly be established. *Reed*

¹¹ Because the infant was of mixed race parentage, the description Caucasian hair, may have excluded the infant as well, but we cannot know because post-conviction counsel did not call a hair expert at the evidentiary hearing to establish any of this.

v. State, 875 So.2d 415, 423-427 (Fla. 2004)(rejecting a claim of ineffectiveness for failing to consult with a fingerprint expert because the defendant presented no evidence at the evidentiary hearing indicating that the State's expert's identification of the fingerprint was in error). There was no ineffectiveness.

Another suspect - Gundy

Brooks also asserts his counsel failed to present evidence of another suspect, Gerold Gundy. IB at 55.

The trial court concluded that defense counsel's decision not to present evidence that Gundy was the perpetrator, including that the dog tracked from the crime scene to Gundy's grandmother house, rather than merely point to him as another possible suspect was a "reasonable strategic decision." (PC Vol. 7 1260-1261). The trial court relied on defense counsel's Funk testimony that they "weren't going to be able to prosecute Jerrold Gundy, for goodness' sake." (PC Vol. 7 1261).

There was no deficient performance. Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that they could not actually prove that Gundy was the actual perpetrator. For example, the DNA results on the Newport cigarette excluded everyone in the case including Gundy. (Evid H at 147). Mr. Funk knew that the prosecutor had the ability to rebut it if they attempted to seriously claim that Gundy committed these murders. (Evid H at 168). They knew that they could not prosecute Gundy. (Evid H at 168). He thought reasonable doubt based there being no evidence linking Brooks to the murders

- 50 -

was the better defense. (Evid H at 167). One of the dangers of actually attempting to prove that Gundy was the actual killer instead of an empty chair defense is that the jury then tends to balance who did the better job: the prosecutor proving Brooks was the actual killer or the defense proving that Gundy was the actual killer. It was better just to vaguely point the finger at Gundy which they did. Part of their trial strategy was to put the prosecutor on the defensive and make the prosecutor start defending Gundy which succeeded to some degree because the prosecutor did start defending Gundy. (Evid H at 148).

There was no deficient performance. Defense counsel did point to Gundy. Defense counsel cannot be deficient for failing to do something that he, in fact, did. *Lowe v. State*, 2 So.3d 21, 35 (Fla. 2008)(concluding that "counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make an argument concerning the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule because he did, in fact, make this argument."); *Stephens v. State*, 975 So.2d 405, 415 (Fla. 2007)(holding that counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to object when, in fact, he did object).

Additionally, "which witnesses, if any, to call, and when to call them, is the epitome of a strategic decision, and it is one that we will seldom, if ever, second guess." Evans v. Sec'y, Fla Dept. of Corr., 699 F.3d 1249, 1268-69 (11th Cir. 2012)(quoting Waters v. Thomas, 46 F.3d 1506, 1512 (11th Cir. 1995)(en banc)). There was no deficient performance.

Furthermore, there was no prejudice. Post-conviction counsel did not call Gundy and attempt to prove that Gundy was the actual

- 51 -

perpetrator at the evidentiary hearing either. It was the prosecutor that presented Gundy at the evidentiary hearing and that was to rebut the newly discovered evidence claim based on Ferguson's affidavit, not to explore this claim of ineffectiveness.

In Bell v. State, 965 So.2d 48, 64 (Fla. 2007), the Florida Supreme Court rejected a claim of ineffectiveness for failing to present a self-defense because the defendant offered no evidentiary support of the claim at the evidentiary hearing. Bell was granted an evidentiary hearing on the claim but did not present any witnesses at the evidentiary hearing to support the self-defense theory. The Florida Supreme Court explained that Bell presented no witness at the evidentiary hearing who testified that the victim had a gun, reached for a gun, or in any way committed an overt act that would have caused Bell to react in self-defense. The Florida Supreme Court explained that because no such witnesses were called to testify at the evidentiary hearing, Bell failed to carry his burden of demonstrating prejudice. Bell, 965 So.2d at 64; see also Ferrell v. State, 29 So.3d 959, 975 (Fla. 2010)(rejecting an ineffectiveness claim for failing to call alibi witnesses because, while granted an evidentiary hearing at which the two alibi witnesses testified, they did not testify as to any alibi on the night of the murder at the evidentiary hearing); Green v. State, 1090, 1104 (Fla. 2008)(rejecting a 975 So.2d claim of ineffectiveness premised on a deputy's report to FDLE because the deputy was not called to testify at the evidentiary hearing resulting in no evidence to support the allegations). As the Florida Supreme Court explained in both Bell and Ferrell, when a

- 52 -

defendant is granted an evidentiary hearing but fails to call the necessary witnesses in support of the claim of ineffectiveness, the defendant necessarily fails to establish either deficiency or prejudice.

Mrs. Orr/Mr. Clark

Brooks claims his attorneys were ineffective for failing to present the testimony of Mrs. Orr that Walker Davis and another black male (presumably Brooks) were at her house on Eglin Air Force base at the time of the murders. IB at 58.

The trial court concluded that the decision not to present Mrs. Orr was reasonable. (PC Vol. 7 1262). Defense counsel discussed the matter and decided it was "best not to go there" and that the "jury would see through that." (PC Vol. 7 1262). The trial court noted that the evidence placed Brooks in Crestview the night of the murders and that it was counsel's opinion that the jury was going to conclude that Brooks was in Crestview that night. Id.

There was no deficient performance. The problem with Mrs. Orr's statement was Mr. Orr said otherwise. He placed the time around 8:00 p.m., not at 8:30 or 9:00 as Mrs. Orr did, which left Walker and Brooks more than sufficient time to drive to Crestview as counsel knew because they drove from Eglin to Crestview as part of their trial preparation. "Which witnesses, if any, to call, and when to call them, is the epitome of a strategic decision, and it is one that we will seldom, if ever, second guess." *Evans v. Sec'y*, *Fla Dept. of Corr.*, 699 F.3d 1249, 1268-69 (11th Cir. 2012)(quoting *Waters v. Thomas*, 46 F.3d 1506, 1512 (11th Cir. 1995)(en banc)).

- 53 -

Nor was there any prejudice. There was objective evidence that Brooks was in Crestview the night of the murders. There was scientific evidence that Brooks was in Crestview at the time in the form of Brooks' DNA on a cigarette in Thomas' house; phone records of Brooks' call from her house at 9:22p.m.; a speeding ticket; and numerous eyewitnesses.

Brooks also claims his attorneys were ineffective for failing to present the testimony of Mr. Tim Clark, a banker, who was working late in Crestview on the night of, and near, the murders.

The trial court concluded that the decision not to present Mr. Clark was reasonable because "his testimony clearly would not have been beneficial to the Defendant." (PC Vol. 7 1262-1263). Defense counsel Szachacz testified that Mr. Clark would positively hurt the defense case he could identify Brooks. (PC Vol. 7 1263).

There was no deficient performance. Mr. Szachacz personally spoke with Mr. Clark and determined that he would hurt the defense case because Mr. Clark now stated that Brooks was one of the two black men he saw with the victim that night. Additionally, "which witnesses, if any, to call, and when to call them, is the epitome of a strategic decision, and it is one that we will seldom, if ever, second guess." Evans v. Sec'y, Fla Dept. of Corr., 699 F.3d 1249, 1268-69 (11th Cir. 2012)(quoting Waters v. Thomas, 46 F.3d 1506, 1512 (11th Cir. 1995)(en banc)).

Nor was there any prejudice. Postconviction counsel did not present the testimony of Mr. Clark at the evidentiary hearing. In absence of such testimony, Brooks cannot establish prejudice. *Bell* v. *State*, 965 So.2d 48, 64 (Fla. 2007)(rejecting a claim of

- 54 -

ineffectiveness for failing to present a self-defense because the defendant offered no evidentiary support of the claim at the evidentiary hearing); Green v. State, 975 So.2d 1090, 1104 (Fla. 2008)(rejecting a claim of ineffectiveness premised on a deputy's report to FDLE because the deputy was not called to testify at the evidentiary hearing resulting in no evidence to support the allegations). Indeed, both these subclaims should be deemed abandoned. Wickham v. State, - So.3d -, -, 2013 WL 1830950, 11 (Fla. 2013)(holding that a claim not explored at the evidentiary hearing was abandoned citing Booker v. State, 969 So.2d 186, 194-95 (Fla. 2007)). Postconviction counsel was required to present these witnesses in support of this claim and he did not.

Stolen truck - green Nissan Pick-up

Brooks further asserts his counsel failed to present evidence of a stolen green Nissan pick-up truck that may have had blood on it. IB at 62.

The trial court concluded the decision not to pursue the pick-up truck reasonable. (PC Vol. 7 1265). The trial court noted that one of the two retained defense counsel, Mr. Szachacz testified that the stolen truck was "worthless" to the defense. The trial court also noted that Brooks had not established that any further investigation of the truck would have helped the defense. (PC Vol. 7 1265).

There was no deficient performance. Mr. Funk testified that this information was "worthless." As both defense counsel

- 55 -

testified, there was no real link between the stolen truck and these murders.

Nor was there any prejudice. Post-conviction counsel failed to present any evidence at the evidentiary hearing that tied the pickup to these murders. As the Florida Supreme Court explained in both *Bell v. State*, 965 So.2d 48, 64 (Fla. 2007) and *Green v. State*, 975 So.2d 1090, 1104 (Fla. 2008) when a defendant is granted an evidentiary hearing but fails to call the necessary witnesses in support of the claim of ineffectiveness, the defendant necessarily fails to establish either deficiency or prejudice.

Polygraph results

Brooks asserts that his lawyers are to be faulted for not using the polygraph results to impeach Melissa Thomas. IB at 62. Melissa Thomas was the State's witness who put Brooks in Crestview at the time of, and very near, the murders. The polygraph concerns whether or not Brooks changed his clothes at her house. (Evid H at 259). The polygraph report stated that Thomas was being truthful when she stated that she did not recall Brooks changing clothes at her house the night of the murders. (Evid H at 260). At trial, the prosecutor impeached Thomas regarding her original statement that Brooks changed clothes. (Evid H at 260-261). Postconviction counsel asserted that defense counsel could have rehabilitated Thomas with the polygraph results if they were admissible. (Evid H at 262). Mr. Szachacz testified at the evidentiary hearing that it was unlikely that the polygraph results would have been admissible. (Evid H at 262).

- 56 -

The trial court concluded there was no ineffectiveness because Thomas' statement that she did not remember was "not truly inconsistent" with her polygraph and there was no prejudice. (PC Vol. 7 1265-1267). The trial court also noted that "polygraph evidence is generally inadmissible." (PC Vol. 7 1265). The trial court rejected the *Giglio* claim regarding agent Haley's testimony as well. (PC Vol. 7 1266-67). The trial court noted that Brooks had not proven Agent Haley's testimony was false or that the prosecution knew it was false. (PC Vol. 7 1266). The trial court also found that the Agent's testimony was not material.

First, polygraph results are <u>not</u> admissible. *Davis* v. *State*, 520 So.2d 572, 573-74 (Fla. 1988)(holding that polygraphs are not "sufficiently reliable or valid instrument to warrant its use in judicial proceedings."); *United States* v. *Scheffer*, 523 U.S. 303, 118 S.Ct. 1261, 140 L.Ed.2d 413 (1998)(rejecting an argument that the Sixth Amendment right to present a defense requires courts to allow a defendant to present polygraph results). Nor are polygraphs admissible as impeachment. *Smith* v. *State*, 931 So.2d 790, 799 (Fla. 2006)(rejecting a *Brady* claim where the defendant did not demonstrate "that polygraph tests were admissible at trial as impeachment evidence.").

Brooks asserts that the prosecutor impeaching Thomas, when the prosecutor knew the results of the polygraph, was a violation of *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 92 S.Ct. 763, 31 L.Ed.2d 104 (1972). IB at 77. To establish a *Giglio* violation, three prongs must be shown: (1) the testimony was false; (2) the prosecutor knew it was false; and (3) the testimony was material. *Conahan v. State*,

- 57 -

- So.3d -, -, 2013 WL 1149736, 5 (Fla. 2013)(concluding that the defendant did not establish a *Giglio* claim because he did not establish that the testimony was false citing *Guzman* v. *State*, 868 So.2d 498, 505 (Fla. 2003). Brooks bears the burden of establishing the first two prongs. *Wickham* v. *State*, - So.3d -, -, 2013 WL 1830950, *3 (Fla. 2013). On the issue of materiality or prejudice, the question is whether there is any reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the jury's verdict. In other words, the State has the burden to demonstrate that the false testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Smith* v. *State* 931 So.2d 790, 799 (Fla. 2006).

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